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11 May 2009 
 
Ning-Wu Chang, Ph.D., P.E. 
Department of Toxic Substances Control 
California EPA 
5796 Corporate Avenue 
Cypress, California 90630 
 
Subject: Request for Approval of Geosynthetic Landfill Cap Design and  
  Request for Issuance of Explanation of Significant Differences (ESD), 
  The Boulevards at South Bay Project, Carson, California 
  Former Cal Compact Landfill 
 
Dear Dr. Chang: 
 
This letter addresses a final step needed to start construction of the landfill cap using a geosynthetic 
instead of the a clay layer at the former Cal Compact Landfill for The Boulevards at South Bay 
Project in Carson, California.  Tetra Tech, Inc. requests actions #1 and #2 below by the Department 
of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) so that the revised project schedule can be maintained. 
 
The approved October 1995 Final Remedial Action Plan (RAP) for the site calls for a landfill cap 
containing of a barrier layer of clay material with hydraulic permeability of 1 x 10-6 cm/sec or less.  
For several reasons, it was proposed by Tetra Tech, Inc. and generally agreed to by all parties, that 
an improved landfill cap can be constructed by utilizing geosynthetic materials instead.   An 
impermeable geosynthetic material would be used for majority of this project instead, except for the 
landfill cap overlying the perimeter slopes.(approximately nine acres).  We outlined that the 
following steps would be required to implement this change: 
 

1. Conditional approval by the DTSC of the geosynthetic landfill cap design.  The “conditional” 
approval status is intended to recognize that minor design changes are likely to take place 
right up the time of construction, and that DTSC will review and approve the final design 
immediately before construction. 

 
2. Issuance of an Explanation of Significant Differences (ESD) that formally documents and 

explains the change of design from the cover design using a clay barrier in the RAP to the 
cap that utilizes the geosynthetic cap approach, and provides for the required notifications. 

 
3. Final field approval by DTSC of each area/subarea of landfill cap design just prior to 

construction. 
 

Tetra Tech, Inc. 
20400 Main Street, Carson, CA 90745 

   Tel 310.965.0137 Fax 310.965.0273 www.tetratech.com 
 
  



   

Basis of Request for Conditional Approval of Design:  Our request for conditional approval of the 
geosynthetic landfill cap design is based on the following: 
 

(a) Information meetings and presentations with DTSC in 2004, 2005, 2006, and 2007 on the 
development of design concepts for the geosynthetic landfill cap. 

 
(b) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the 27 December 2004 report entitled “Preliminary Remedial 

Design Refinements.” 
 

(c) Letter from DTSC dated 9 February 2005 stating that the proposed design refinements for the 
landfill cap are appropriate for remedial design at the site and requested additional details. 

 
(d) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the 11 October 2007 letter report entitled “Landfill Cap Remedial 

Design Refinement and Response to Request for Additional Information.” 
 

(e) Letter from DTSC dated 29 November 2007 with the subject of  “Landfill Cap Remedial 
Design Refinements and Response to Request for Additional Information” stating that the 
proposed landfill cap details are likely to meet the protective performance objectives and 
pointed out that DTSC final approval is contingent upon more refined design details. 

 
(f) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the 19 December 2007 report entitled “Landfill Cap 

Geomembrane Liner Grade Design – 75% submittal.” 
 

(g) Regular design review meetings with DTSC throughout 2008 and 2009 during which each 
design refinement was presented and discussed and the design process explained. 

 
(h) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the 15 February 2008 report entitled “Landfill Cap Geomembrane 

Liner Grade Design – 95% submittal.” 
 

(i) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the June 2008 “Landfill Cap Design-Build Drawings – Buildings 
NOPQ” for a representative portion of the site that correlated with building and utility 
designs then being considered. 

 
(j) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the 15 August 2008 report entitled “Design Report for 

Settlement-Compensating Connection of Geomembrane to Pile Caps”, which included videos 
of full-scale testing of prototypes of the pile cap boots developed for this project. 

 
(k) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the 28 August 2008 report entitled “Design Report for Landfill 

Cap Exterior Slopes.” 
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(l) Submittal by Tetra Tech of a letter dated 15 September 2008 with the subject of  “Request 
for Approval for Geosynthetic Materials for Landfill Cap.” 

 
(m) Letter from DTSC dated 26 September 2008 with the subject of “Request for Approval for 

Geosynthetic Materials for Landfill Cap” providing conditional approval of the specific 
geosynthetic materials proposed for use in the landfill cap. 

 
(n) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the December 2008 report entitled “Geosynthetic Confirmation 

Tests for Slope Stability Design of Landfill Cap Exterior Slopes.” 
 

(o) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the February 2009 report entitled “Building Protection System 
Geomembrane and Primary Geomembrane Mock-Up Demonstration Test Report”, which 
included videos of full-scale testing of the landfill cap durability during construction 
activities. 

 
(p) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the February 2009 report entitled “Technical Specifications for 

Geosynthetic Landfill Cap.” 
 

(q) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the February 2009 report entitled “Construction Quality 
Assurance Plan for Geosynthetic Landfill Cap.” 

 
(r) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the February 2009 report entitled “Test Standards Accompanying 

Specifications and CQA Plan for Geosynthetic Landfill Cap.” 
 

(s) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the March 2009 “Landfill Cap Design-Build Drawings – 
Buildings NOPQ and Parking Structure” for a representative portion of the site that 
correlated with the latest building and utility designs available, and which replaced the design 
drawings submitted to DTSC in June 2008. 

 
(t) Submittal by Tetra Tech of the March 2009 “Landfill Cap Design-Build Drawings – 

Torrance Lateral Slope” for the geosynthetic landfill cap design in that area. 
 
Basis of Request for Issuance of ESD:  As a result of the extensive process of design development, 
testing, design review meetings, and submittals outlined above, we believe that DTSC now has 
sufficient information to represent the details of the design change from the clay landfill cap to the 
geosynthetic landfill cap for the purposes of preparing and issuing the required ESD. 
 
Request:  Tetra Tech requests that DTSC provide a conditional approval of the geosynthetic landfill 
cap design and issue the ESD.  These actions are required to maintain the revised project schedule 
and milestones.  It is recognized that final field approval must be issued by DTSC for the final 
design of the landfill cap in each area/subarea just prior to construction. 
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We look forward to any discussion you may need to enhance your timely review and approval of this 
request. 
 
Sincerely, 
Tetra Tech, Inc. 
 
 
 
Javier Weckmann, P.E. 
Program Manager/Vice President 
 
cc: Tom Cota, DTSC 
 Dan Zogaib, DTSC 
 Steve Hariri, DTSC 
 Ryan Jones, Carson Marketplace 
 Seelye Arms, Carson Marketplace 
 Gary Boettcher, Carson Marketplace 
 Gary Keyes, Tetra Tech 
 Marty Czerniak, BAS 
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